Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 1 of 35

FILED 11-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-V-

Appeal No. 2023-AP-2319 - CR

MICHAEL JOSEPH GASPER,

Defendant-Respondent.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, Dated October 30, 2024, Reversing An Order Granting Suppression Of Evidence Obtained By Warrantless Internet Search Entered In The Circuit Court For Waukesha County In Case No. 23-CF-000470, The Honorable Shelley J. Gaylord Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER, MICHAEL JOSEPH GASPER, (DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT):

OVERVIEW

The Court of Appeals' decision in this warrantless search case announces, in a case of first impression, the fundamental legal proposition that an electronic service provider's (ESP) Terms of Service adhesion contract operates to void a user's objective and subjective Fourth Amendment expectation of privacy in data uploaded to the user's ESP account.¹

The Court of Appeals expressly identifies this case as presenting an issue of first impression:

> While no Wisconsin court has addressed this issue, several federal district courts have determined that when a user agrees to an ESP's terms of service that advise that child pornography is prohibited content, the ESP would be scanning and accessing the account for violations of the terms, and the ESP would report violations to law enforcement, the user has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the child pornography in his or her account. (emphasis added.)

> > [Slip Opinion, October 30, 2024, p. 12.]

The Court of Appeals in this opinion, which is recommended for publication, holds as a matter of law that ESP contract language of the sort utilized by Snapchat vitiates any "subjective" or "objective" expectation of privacy in a user's account for Fourth Amendment purposes:

> Gasper's agreement to Snapchat's Terms of Service, Community Guidelines, and Sexual Content Explainer vitiated any subjective expectation of privacy he might have had in the child pornography saved to his account. Even if he had testified to such a belief, that expectation is not objectively reasonable. (emphasis added.)

> > [Slip Opinion, October 30, 2024, ¶ 28, p. 13.]

The Court of Appeals' Opinion proceeds to conclude that, under its legal analysis, Mr. Gasper contractually forfeited any expectation of privacy in the

¹ The circuit court Decision and Order and professional literature in the field of cybernetics uses the acronym "ISP" sometimes refer to providers such as Snapchat as an Internet Service Provider. The court of appeals' Decision uses the acronym "ESP" referring to Snapchat as an Electronic Service Provider. For purposes of this appeal these two acronyms are used interchangeably.

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 5 of 35

content of his Snapchat account, which included a video uploaded from his cellphone. Therefore, the Court of Appeals posits that no Fourth Amendment "search" occurred when, without a warrant, Wisconsin law enforcement authorities in the Wisconsin Attorney General's Office, and a Waukesha County Sheriff's Detective, opened and viewed the content of previously unopened and unviewed CyberTip "hash" data of "suspected" child pornographic material (SCSAM) which, in the law enforcement agents' opinions, constituted child pornography versus adult pornography. The Court of Appeals summarized its analysis with a categorical conclusory statement:

¶29 Detective Schroeder's viewing of the video that accompanied the CyberTip did not constitute a search under the Fourth Amendment.

[Slip Opinion, October 30, 2024, p. 14.]

This case vitiates the Fourth Amendment rights of all members of the public who upload data from their cellphones to remote "cloud" storage accounts provided by an Electronic Service Provider (ESP).

Under the Wisconsin Department of Justice current investigative regimen, law enforcement agents are instructed by that Department to engage in warrantless opening and viewing of "Suspected Child Sexual Abuse Material" (SCSAM) via CyberTips received from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC). That process directly violates the Fourth Amendment when applied to cellphone use and related data storage accounts per the U.S. Supreme Court precedents of *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S. 296, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018) and *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) and two U.S. Court of Appeals Circuits, *U.S. v. Wilson*, 13 F.4th 961 (9th Cir. 2021) and *U.S. v. Maher*, ____ F.4th , 2024 WL 4610759.

Under this process, when proprietary software employed by an Electronic Service Provider (ESP), such as Snapchat, Facebook, Google or Instagram, detects SCSAM the ESP is required by 18 U.S.C. 2258A to forward that data in the form of a "CyberTip" containing computerized "hash values" to NCMEC. The software

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 6 of 35

used by each ESP differs from one to the other. Neither Snapchat or NCMEC opened or viewed the SCSAM data. However, NCMEC, using the user's Internet Protocol (IP) address, did locate the user's geographic locale.

Since the geographic locale of the user's IP address was within the State of Wisconsin, the Wisconsin Attorney General was sent the "CyberTip" by NCMEC. It is undisputed that under the Wisconsin Attorney General's official protocol, the previously unviewed CyberTip "hash" data is to be opened and physically viewed without a warrant by a Department of Justice administrative bureaucrat, (in this case one Matthew Lochowitz). Notably, the uncontroverted fact of this deliberate systemic governmental action by Wisconsin Attorney General personnel was virtually ignored by the Court of Appeals in its October 30, 2024 Opinion.

After opening and viewing the imagery contained in the CyberTip without a warrant, the Department of Justice then determined which local law enforcement agency had jurisdiction over the user's place of residence and forwarded the CyberTip to that agency. That was the Waukesha County Sheriff's Department, where Detective David Schroeder, also following the Wisconsin Attorney General's protocol, opened and viewed the CyberTip data image without a warrant.

The Court of Appeals decision announces that both of these acts of opening and viewing previously unopened stored user electronic data were <u>not</u> warrantless "<u>searches</u>" by government agents because Snapchat told its users that it prohibited storing such data on its servers, would monitor and potentially report it to law enforcement authorities.

This case therefore raises the threshold issue of whether a search warrant is required for law enforcement to open and view the content of data stored in a user's ESP account provided by the ESP to law enforcement personnel via a previously unopened "CyberTip" from NCMEC, which ostensibly matched the "hash" data of the CyberTip's imagery to an ESP proprietary database of prohibited imagery. In this case, the integrity of Snapchat's database was never established and Detective

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 7 of 35

Schroeder simply read into the record the CyberTip document in which the scanning software was identified as "MD5" - not "PhotoDNA".

Based upon this factual record, the trial court followed the U.S. Supreme Court holdings in *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S. 296, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014); and *U.S. v. Wilson*, 13 F.4th 961 (9th Cir. 2021) to grant the defense motion to suppress. On October 30, 2024, the same day that the Wisconsin Court of Appeals issued its Opinion in Gasper, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 2nd Circuit joined that array of precedent in *U.S. v. Maher*, __ F.4th __, 2024 WL 4610759 [published but available only on Westlaw] [Pet. App. 199-224].

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals decision here posits that if an ESP computerized data filter program detects potential contraband in the form of "suspected" child pornographic content (SCSAM) in a customer's account, the customer's contract with the private ESP operates to forfeit any Fourth Amendment protection against governmental search and seizure of that content without a warrant.

If that is to be the considered law of Wisconsin, we all need to know that fact because the rules governing what privately stored information is "contraband" one day can morph overnight into being applied to other forms of "contraband" simply by legislative fiat (e.g., material sympathetic to the Communist Party during the 1950's; intoxicating liquor during the Prohibition Era of the 1920's, and in today's volatile political environment, legislatively outlawed information and communications relating to obtaining abortion services).

The ramifications of the Court of Appeals holding in this case represents a frightening departure from settled U.S. Supreme Court Fourth Amendment precedent in the fields of car rental contracts, telephone company contracts, hotel contracts and apartment leasing, where breach of contract provisions prohibiting illegal conduct or contraband do not waive the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement.

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 8 of 35

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES CITED

CASES	Page
Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 885 S.Ct. 1788 (1968)	17
Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 69 S.Ct. 1302 (1949)	30
Byars v. United States, 273 U.S. 28, 47 S.Ct. 248-49 (1927)	22
Byrd v. United States, 584 U.S.395, 138 S.Ct. 1518 (2018)	23
Carpenter v. United States,	
585 U.S. 296, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018)	
	, ,
Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 129 S.Ct. 694 (2009)	33
Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507 (1967)	22, 23
Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 110 S.Ct. 1684 (1990)	23
Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 100 S.Ct. 1371 (1980)	22
Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014)	
Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 99 S.Ct. 2577 (1979)	22, 23
State v. Bowers, 405 Wis.2d 716, 985 N.W.2d 123, 2023 WI App. 4	19

CASES	<u>Page</u>
State v. Burch, 398 Wis. 1, 961 N.W.2d 314, 2021 WI 68	19, 20
State v. Eason, 245 Wis.2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625, 2001 WI 98 ¶74	33
State v. Tullberg, 2014 WI 134, ¶27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W. 2d 120	17
Stoner v. California, 3 76 U.S. 483, 84 S.Ct. 889 (1964)	23
United States v. Ackerman, 831 F.3d 1292 (10 th Cir. 2016)	27
United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)	33
United States v. Maher, F.4 th , 2024 WL 4610759 [Westlaw printed copy in Appendix]	5, 7, 26
United States v. Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 94 S.Ct. 988 (1974)	23
United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 96 S.Ct. 1619 (1976)	22, 23
United States v. Nafzger, 965 F.2d 213 (7 th Cir. 1992)	17
United States v. Sheehan, 70 F.4 th 36 (1 st Cir. 2023)	33
United States v. Thomas, 65 F. 4 th 922, 925 (7 th Cir. 2023)	24
United States v. Warshak, 631 F.3d 266 (6 th Cir. 2010)	27

CASES	<u>Page</u>
United States v. Wilson, 13 F.4 th 961 (9 th Cir. 2021)	5, 7, 11, 30, 32
STATUTES CITED	
Wis. Stat. §808.10	11
Wis. Stat. §809.62	11
Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r)	13
OTHER AUTHORITIES	
U.S. Dept. of Justice, Office of Justice Programs Article entitled: "CyberTipline: Your Resource for Reporting The Sexual Exploitation of Children" Published 2003	29

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 11 of 35

REQUEST FOR REVIEW

The Defendant-Respondent, Michael Joseph Gasper, petitions the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §808.10 and 809.62 to review the decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, in *State of Wisconsin v. Michael Joseph Gasper*, Appeal No. 2023-AP-002319-CR, filed on October 30, 2024, which the Court of Appeals has recommended for publication.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER GASPER WAS ENTITLED TO A "REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY" IN DATA UPLOADED TO HIS SNAPCHAT ACCOUNT FROM HIS CELLPHONE.

Answered By The Trial Court: In The Affirmative.

The trial court suppressed all evidence resulting from the warrantless cellphone search, citing *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014), *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S. 296, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), *U.S. v. Wilson*, 13 F.4th 961 (9th Cir. 2021), and referencing multiple law review articles in footnote 2. of its Decision and Order [Pet. App. 2].

The trial court decision, adverse to the State, was raised by the State in pages 15 - 23 of its appellate brief.

Answered By The Court Of Appeals: In The Negative, stating:

We conclude that Gasper did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the video, and thus, the officer's inspection was not a search subject to the Fourth Amendment. (emphasis added.)

[Pet. App. 1-2, Slip Opinion pp. 1-2.]

II. WHETHER THE MARCH 3, 2023 WARRANTLESS VIEWING BY LAW ENFORCEMENT OF THE SNAPCHAT CYBERTIP SATISFIES THE "PRIVATE SEARCH" EXCEPTION TO THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

Answered By The Trial Court: In The Negative.

The trial court decision, adverse to the State, was raised by the State in pages 24-34 of its appellate brief.

Not Addressed By The Court Of Appeals, which expressed the following rationale set forth in footnote 8. on page 14 of the Slip Opinion:

⁸ Because we determine that no Fourth Amendment "search" occurred, we need not reach the additional grounds the State set forth for reversal

III. "GOOD **FAITH EXCEPTION**" TO WHETHER THE **EXCLUSIONARY** RULE **APPLIES** TO **OBVIATE** THE CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION **OF FOURTH** THE AMENDMENT WARRANT REQUIREMENT IN THIS CASE.

Answered By The Trial Court: "Not argued in Gasper" by the State; and: "Good faith unlikely in Gasper's case given the split in court decisions." [Pet. App. 19, Trial Court Decision and Order R-56, p. 4.]

The trial court ruling, adverse to the State, was raised in the State's appellate brief on pages 41-43.

Not Answered By The Court Of Appeals, which expressed the following rationale set forth in footnote 8. on page 14 of the Slip Opinion:

⁸ Because we determine that no Fourth Amendment "search" occurred, we need not reach the additional grounds the State set forth for reversal

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 13 of 35

STATEMENT OF CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The issues in this case meet the following criteria for granting review in Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r):

- (a) A real and significant question of federal and state constitutional law is presented because the Court of Appeals' decision identifies this case as presenting an issue of first impression under the Fourth Amendment relating to law enforcement warrantless access to an internet user's data uploaded from the user's cellphone to an Electronic Service Provider's system.
- (b) The issues raised in the Petition for Review similarly demonstrate a need for the Supreme Court to establish a policy relating to the criteria for the judiciary to follow in granting or denying requests for warrants to open and physically view content of user accounts maintained on Electronic Service Provider servers.
- (c) A decision by the Supreme Court will develop, clarify and harmonize the law, and the primary question presented is novel, the resolution of which will have statewide impact and center on issues of law of the type that are likely to recur unless resolved by the Supreme Court.
- (d) The decision of the Court of Appeals as it relates to data uploaded from cellphones to "the *Cloud*" is in conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court and two other federal court of appeals' decisions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a criminal case which presents fundamental constitutional issues under the Fourth Amendment with respect to warrant requirements restricting law enforcement access to data uploaded to user accounts in an Electronic Service Provider (ESP) data storage system.

B. Procedural History.

On March 20, 2023, Waukesha County Circuit Court Judge Paul Bugenhagen issued a Search Warrant of the defendant, Michael J. Gasper's

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 14 of 35

residence to seize all electronic devices, including cellphones. [R-6, pp. 4-6; Pet. App. 46-48.]

This Search Warrant was based upon an application for a Search Warrant by Waukesha County Sheriff's Detective David Schroeder, dated March 20, 2023, (misnomered in its heading as a "Search Warrant") [R-6, pp. 9-23; Pet. App. 49-63]. The application for Search Warrant was predicated upon assertions made by Detective Schroeder [R-6, pp. 20-22 ¶¶27-38; Pet. App. 60-62] in which he stated that he had opened and reviewed the video referenced in a Snapchat report of "apparent child pornography" to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) via CyberTip #152547912. In doing so, he physically viewed the video included in the CyberTip without a warrant, which he perceived as depicting sexual intercourse between an adult male and a prepubescent light skinned female. [R-6, p. 21 ¶31; Pet. App. 61.]

On March 22, 2023, the Waukesha County District Attorney's Office filed the Criminal Complaint in this matter based on the information first obtained by the Wisconsin Department of Justice from opening and viewing the content of the CyberTip from the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) without a warrant, and then by the Waukesha County Sheriff's Department, which also opened and viewed the content of the CyberTip from the NCMEC without a warrant.

On May 10, 2023, Gasper filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence and Derivative Fruits of Search of Premises and Electronic Devices [R-23, pp. 1-20; Pet. App. 23 - 42].

On May 11, 2023, Gasper filed a separate Motion to Suppress Statements and Fruits of Illegal Arrest. [R-24, pp. 1-3; Pet. App. 43-45.]

On October 2, 2023, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on both Motions to Suppress.

On October 30, 2023, the circuit court issued a Decision and Order granting Gasper's Motions to Suppress. [R-56, pp. 1-6; Pet. App. 16-21.]

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 15 of 35

On December 8, 2023, the State filed a Notice of Appeal from the October 30, 2023 circuit court Decision and Order granting Gasper's Motions to Suppress. [R-61, p. 1.]

On February 16, 2024, the circuit court entered a signed formal Order granting Gasper's Motions to Suppress. [R-73, p. 1; Pet. App. 22.]

On October 30, 2024, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, issued the Decision in this case reversing the circuit court order which had granted Gasper's Motions to Suppress.

C. Statement of Facts.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion recites the salient background facts upon which it relied in its Opinion in \P 2-7, inclusive, and in footnotes 1, 2 and 3. [Pet. App. 2-5.]

In short, the CyberTip generated by Snapchat and reported to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) as Suspected Child Sexual Abuse Material (SCSAM), consisted of CyberTip #152547912, describing an upload of a 16 second video on January 13, 2023 by a Snapchat username "mike_g6656", with an IP address of 184.100.214.42, which is linked to the defendant, Michael Gasper's name and address. [R-38, p. 32; Pet. App. p. 66.]

It is uncontroverted that every charge against Gasper came exclusively from use of Gasper's cellphone. [R-60, p. 96; Pet. App. 153.]

The Court of Appeals' Opinion at ¶20 recognized that access to the defendant's internet service, including his Snapchat user account, was password protected. [Pet. App. 10.]

The Court of Appeals' Opinion in ¶12 reversed the circuit court's finding that, pursuant to the U.S. Supreme Court cases of *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) and *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S. 296, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018), Gasper had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Snapchat account, including the video uploaded on January 13, 2023 from his cellphone. [Pet. App. 7.]

Case 2023AP002319 Petition for Review Filed 11-26-2024 Page 16 of 35

The Court of Appeals' Opinion in ¶15 recites that Snapchat internally obtained the subject video by scanning its servers. [Pet. App. 8-9.]

The Court of Appeals' Opinion in ¶16-19 then identified the Snapchat documents it deemed relevant to its decision consisting of three contractual documents issued by Snapchat to its users, only one of which was identified as having been received by Gasper in a sworn declaration that the circuit court refused to admit into evidence. That was the November 2022 "Snap, Inc. Terms of Service". There was no evidentiary foundation as to when the January 2023 Snapchat's "Community Guidelines" and its January 2023 "Sexual Content Community Guidelines Explainer Series" was adopted or disseminated by Snapchat to its users. [Pet. App. 9-10.] Gasper's cellphone upload occurred on January 13, 2023.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion in ¶2 is factually incorrect when it states that Snapchat detected the subject video using Microsoft's Photo DNA program to scan user files. [Pet. App. 2.] As pointed out in detail in Gasper's Respondent's Brief in the Court of Appeals, the actual language of the CyberTip document itself references Snapchat scanning by an MD-5 program, and not Microsoft's Photo DNA program, despite Detective Schroeder's verbal testimony that he believed Snapchat had used "Photo DNA". [R-38; Pet. App. 64-71; R-60, pp. 23-27; 30-35; 37-41; 150-151; Pet. App. 129-141; 172-175; 182-183.]

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