FILED 12-10-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

Filed 12-10-2024

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP2319-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL JOSEPH GASPER,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL J. CONWAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1134356

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-8910 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) conwaymj@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Gasper argues primarily that the novelty of the issue addressed by the court of appeals presents this Court a real and significant question of constitutional law and an opportunity to develop, clarify, and harmonize the law on a statewide level. (Gasper's Pet. 13); see Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), (c)2.–3. In addition, he argues that his petition raises a question regarding policy pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(b), and that the court of appeals' decision runs contrary to two decisions from the U.S. Supreme Court and one decision from the Second Circuit pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). (Gasper's Pet. 13, 18, 26.) These justifications are unavailing.

While the court of appeals issued a novel decision, Gasper overlooks the fact-intensive nature of that decision. The court of appeals' decision is narrowly tailored to its specific facts, limiting the case's law-developing potential. For the same reason, Gasper overstates the degree to which his petition presents a real and significant question of constitutional law.

Gasper's remaining contentions regarding this Court's review are meritless. As explained below, the court of appeals' decision is squarely consistent with U.S. Supreme Court precedent and not even clearly inconsistent with the Second Circuit decision cited by Gasper. Gasper's petition does not implicate a policy within the "authority" of this Court as Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(b).

In short, the novelty of the court of appeals' decision does not justify this Court's review for four reasons. First, the decision is confined to its facts. Second, Gasper relies on a meritless legal argument. Third, even if Gasper could show that he had an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy, he cannot establish a subjective expectation of privacy. Fourth, even if this Court accepted review and determined

that the court of appeals' reasoning is flawed, this Court would still be obligated to address other issues without the benefit of a decision from the court of appeals. For these reasons, this Court should deny review.

A. The court of appeals issued a fact-specific decision, limiting this Court's opportunity for law development.

This Court's "primary function is that of law defining and law development." *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188–89, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). It does not grant review "merely to correct error or to examine alleged error." *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 14, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). Rather, this Court grants review "because the alleged error in issue has some substantial significance in our institutional law-making responsibility as set forth in the statute and constitution and as reflected in our rules for accepting cases on petition for review." *Id.* (footnote omitted). The criteria weigh against review when the question is factual rather than legal in nature. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3.

Gasper's petition presents a fact-intensive issue not suitable for law development. The court of appeals' decision turned specifically on three policies to which Gasper assented upon creating his Snapchat account: the Terms of Service, the Community Guidelines, and the Sexual Content Explainer. Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶¶ 17–19. The court of appeals walked through each document carefully, demonstrating how the documents became more specific and targeted toward Gasper's particular conduct. The Terms of Service informed users that their accounts would be monitored and that they had to comply with the law and Snapchat policies. Id. ¶ 17. The Community Guidelines specifically prohibited any activity involving CSAM and alerted users that all discovered CSAM would be reported. Id. ¶ 18. The Sexual Content Explainer restated that prohibition and expressly advised

users that Snapchat would be scanning for CSAM and reporting any found CSAM to NCMEC—just as it did with Gasper's account. Id. ¶ 19.

These three policies, in tandem, advised Gasper that his particular conduct was prohibited and would be reported to NCMEC. Therefore, as the court of appeals put it, any subjective expectation of privacy was "objectively unreasonable given Snapchat's policies regarding sexual content in general and sexually explicit content involving children in particular." *Gasper*, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 22. This holding necessarily turned on Snapchat's three policies as applied to Gasper, limiting its application to other contexts and its capacity to develop the law.

The fact-intensive nature of the decision is illustrated by *United States v. Maher*, 120 F.4th 297 (2d Cir. 2024), issued the same day as the court of appeals' decision. Gasper relies on *Maher* because it determined that the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the CSAM found in his Google account and that Google's terms and policies did not render that expectation objectively unreasonable. *Id.* at 307–09.

Google's policies in *Maher*, however, are noticeably less specific and more equivocal than those in Gasper's case. Google's Terms of Service stated that Google "may' report 'illegal content' to 'appropriate authorities." *Id.* at 307 (citation omitted). This generic statement about addressing illegal content is a far cry from Snapchat's Sexual Content Explainer, which calls the eradication of CSAM, specifically, a "top priority" and informs users that Snapchat will report CSAM to NCMEC. *Gasper*, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 19. Google's policies in *Maher* disclaimed its oversight capabilities, informing users "that it 'does not necessarily . . . review content" and further instructing, "please don't assume that we do." *Maher*, 120 F.4th at 308–09 (alteration in original) (citation omitted). Snapchat's Community Guidelines, on the

other hand, state that it will "report all instances of child sexual exploitation to authorities." *Gasper*, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 18. The Sexual Content Explainer adds that Snapchat "continuously evolve[s] [its] capabilities to address CSAM." *Id.* ¶ 19.

In this light, *Maher* and the court of appeals' decision do not conflict. The two cases dealt with two different electronic service providers and two different sets of policies. In fact, *Maher* expressly declined to "draw any categorical conclusions about how terms of service affect a user's expectation of privacy," limiting its holding to the facts of "Google's particular Terms of Service." *Maher*, 120 F.4th at 308. *Maher*, thus, underscores the fact-specific nature of Gasper's petition that limits its potential for law development.

Accordingly, the novelty of the decision does not provide this Court an opportunity to expound on a real and significant question of constitutional law, Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), or an opportunity for law development, Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3. In addition, the decision is not in conflict with *Maher*. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

B. Gasper relies on a patently meritless legal position that would not serve this Court's law development purpose.

The law-developing potential of Gasper's petition is further limited by Gasper's insistence on making a patently meritless argument.

Gasper continues to argue that he had a categorical reasonable expectation of privacy pursuant to *Riley* and *Carpenter* because he accessed Snapchat on his cell phone. (Gasper's Pet. 17–24.) The court of appeals had little difficulty dispatching this argument because "Snapchat scanned the data held on its own servers and identified the child pornography video in Gasper's account without accessing any

Filed 12-10-2024

of his devices." Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 15. In reaching this conclusion, the court of appeals relied on its prior decision in State v. Bowers, 2023 WI App 4, 405 Wis. 2d 716, 985 N.W.2d 123. See Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶¶ 12–14. In Bowers, the court of appeals rejected the State's attempt to circumvent the defendant's reasonable expectation of privacy in a digital storage account by arguing that he accessed it with a county government email address. *Bowers*, 405 Wis. 2d 716, ¶¶ 22, 42. As the court of appeals recognized, Bowers held that the "relevant 'area" was the account, not the device used to access it. Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 14 (quoting Bowers, 405 Wis. 2d 716, ¶¶ 17, 20, 40). The decision in *Bowers* is plainly consistent with Riley and Carpenter, obviating the need for this Court's review. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d).

Bowers's holding regarding the relevant "area" is not controversial. The State did not petition for review from it. The defendant in *Maher*—the Second Circuit case that Gasper now cites favorably—did not attempt to make Gasper's convoluted Riley and Carpenter argument. See *Maher*, 120 F.4th at 307–09. It does not appear that any other defendant has made this argument. Gasper has certainly not provided any examples. (Gasper's Pet. 17–24.) Indeed, in all cases, the parties appear to have agreed that the relevant "area" is the account or files at issue, not the device used to access it. See, e.g., United States v. Ackerman, 831 F.3d 1292, 1305 (10th Cir. 2016) (opinion of Gorsuch, J.) (flagging for consideration on remand whether the defendant "had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his email"); *United States* v. Reddick, 900 F.3d 636, 638 n.1 (5th Cir. 2018) (assuming without deciding that the defendant "had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the computer files at issue"); United States v. Miller, 982 F.3d 412, 426 (6th Cir. 2020) ("Did Miller have a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Gmail account?"); United States v. Bebris, 4 F.4th 551, 562 (7th Cir. 2021) (observing that it did not need to decide "whether

Bebris had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his Facebook messages").

This Court's capacity to develop the law by accepting this case would be invariably hamstrung by Gasper's persistence in ignoring the relevant "area" for the purpose of the reasonable expectation of privacy analysis. *Maher* suggests that reasonable minds may disagree with the court of appeals' decision. But because Gasper has consistently failed put forth a reasonable argument to oppose the court of appeals' reasoning, his petition provides a poor vehicle for developing the law.

C. Even if this Court reversed the court of appeals' decision on the objective expectation of privacy issue, Gasper cannot demonstrate his subjective expectation of privacy.

This Court should also deny review because this Court would invariably affirm, even if it disagreed with the court of appeals' conclusion that Gasper lacked an objective expectation of privacy. Gasper cannot prove that he had a subjective expectation of privacy, as he must to prevail.

To trigger the application of the Fourth Amendment, a defendant must show both a subjective and objective expectation of privacy. *State v. Baric*, 2018 WI App 63, ¶ 17, 384 Wis. 2d 359, 919 N.W.2d 221. Failure on either prong dooms the defendant's motion to suppress. Id. ¶ 18 n.5.

In the present case, the court of appeals concluded that Gasper failed to establish either a subjective or objective expectation of privacy. Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶¶ 20–21. The court of appeals dispatched Gasper's subjective expectation of privacy in one paragraph, observing that "Gasper did not testify, nor did he submit any admissible evidence to meet his burden to show that he believed the video downloaded on Snapchat was private." Id. ¶ 20. In footnote 7,

Filed 12-10-2024

the court of appeals noted that, "[w]hile Gasper submitted an affidavit, the circuit court ruled that it was inadmissible. Gasper does not challenge that ruling on appeal, and, thus, has abandoned any effort to rely on the affidavit." $Id. \ \P \ 20 \ n.7.$ All that Gasper arguably offered in support of a subjective expectation of privacy came from the affidavit in support of the search warrant, which noted that Gasper's home Wi-Fi network was password protected. Id. ¶ 20.

On this record, Gasper cannot hope to establish a subjective expectation of privacy. The fact that he had a password-protected Wi-Fi network, standing alone, is far too attenuated from his Snapchat account to establish a subjective expectation of privacy. He has no other evidence on which to rely. Thus, if this Court accepted review, it may not even reach the objective expectation of privacy question. Since this Court usually decides cases on the narrowest possible grounds and declines to reach non-dispositive issues. Maryland Arms Ltd. P'ship v. Connell, 2010 WI 64, ¶ 48, 326 Wis. 2d 300, 786 N.W.2d 15, this Court could easily opt to affirm based on Gasper's inability to prove his subjective expectation of privacy.

argument in support of a subjective expectation of privacy depends entirely on this Court ignoring the court of appeals' opinion. He asserts that his affidavit established his subjective expectation of privacy. (Gasper's Pet. 19.) He does not acknowledge the circuit court's ruling excluding it from evidence or the court of appeals' determination that he abandoned any attempt to challenge that evidentiary ruling. (Gasper's Pet. 19.) He further ignores the portion of his Appendix containing the circuit court's evidentiary ruling. (Pet-App. 180–86.) If Gasper has pinned his hope of establishing a subjective expectation of privacy on a brazen misrepresentation of the record, then he cannot possibly succeed. This Court should decline to give Gasper a forum in which he can rely on an inadmissible affidavit that the court of appeals deemed abandoned. See Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 20 n.7.

Because Gasper cannot prove his subjective expectation of privacy on the existing record, his petition provides a poor vehicle to address whether he had an objective expectation of privacy. On this additional basis, this Court should deny review.

D. Even if this Court were to reverse the court of appeals, it would still be required to address other issues without the benefit of a court of appeals decision.

Finally, this Court should decline review because reversing the court of appeals would require this Court to resolve two other issues not addressed by the court of appeals.

The State advanced three grounds for reversing the circuit court's suppression order: (1) Gasper lacked a reasonable expectation of privacy; (2) the private party search doctrine applied to the warrantless opening of the video in the Cyber Tip; and (3) the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applied. By deciding the appeal on the first issue, the court of appeals did not have to reach the other two issues. Gasper, 2024 WL 4615609, ¶ 29 n.8.

If this Court were to reverse the court of appeals' decision, the State would argue that this Court should still affirm the court of appeals' result based on one of these two alternative bases. This Court would be better served by declining this opportunity to address either issue.

Admittedly, the private-search doctrine argument presents an issue of first impression that has divided the federal appellate courts when neither the reporting electronic service provider nor NCMEC viewed the CSAM before forwarding it to law enforcement. *Compare Reddick*, 900 F.3d at 639 (applying the doctrine); *Miller*, 982 F.3d at 430 (same); with United States v. Wilson, 13 F.4th 961, 974–76 (9th Cir.

2021) (rejecting the doctrine); *Maher*, 120 F.4th at 314 (same). In the same circumstances, published state court decisions have universally followed *Reddick* and *Miller*. *See Walker v. State*, 669 S.W.3d 243, 252–55 & n.8 (Ark. Ct. App. 2023); *People v. Wilson*, 270 Cal. Rptr. 3d 200, 220–25 (Cal. Ct. App. 2020), *cert. denied* 142 S. Ct. 751 (2022); *Morales v. State*, 274 So.3d 1213, 1217–18 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019). The State maintains that its arguments consistent with *Reddick*, *Miller*, and all other state courts to address the issue are more persuasive than those relied upon in *Wilson* and *Maher*.

In any event, the dispute among the federal appellate courts weighs in favor of denying the petition. This Court would be better served by a petition arising from a court of appeals decision that actually addressed the private-search doctrine. Given the fact-intensive nature of the reasonable expectation of privacy analysis, the court of appeals will eventually address the issue in a different case. Moreover, the United States may very well seek and obtain *certiorari* in *Maher* now that a genuine circuit split exists. This Court would benefit from further percolation of this issue in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals and in other courts before accepting review of it.

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